
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. ______________

CARRIE ANN LUCAS, and
COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado corporation,

Plaintiffs,

v.

THE UNIVERSITY OF DENVER, a Colorado corporation, 

Defendant.
                                                                                                                                                      

COMPLAINT
                                                                                                                                                      

Plaintiffs Carrie Ann Lucas and Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition, by and through

their attorneys, Kevin W. Williams, Legal Program Director of Colorado Cross-Disability

Coalition, and Fox & Robertson, P.C., submit this Complaint.

INTRODUCTION

1. Despite the passage of the Rehabilitation Act in 1973, 29 U.S.C. 701 et seq., and

the Americans with Disabilities Act,  in 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., the University of

Denver continues to discriminate against students on the basis of disability.

2. Plaintiffs bring this action for damages to redress injuries suffered as a result of

Defendant’s violations of the Rehabilitation Act, and for injunctive relief to cure Defendant’s

violations of the Rehabilitation Act and Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42

U.S.C. § 12181 et seq.  



-2-

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1331 and 1343.

4. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

PARTIES

5. Plaintiff Carrie Ann Lucas is and was at all times material hereto a resident of

Colorado residing at 5601 East Yale Ave., Denver CO  80222.  Ms. Lucas is deafblind, meaning

that she is substantially limited in her ability to hear and see, and, as a result of central core

disease, Ms. Lucas is substantially limited in her ability to walk.  Ms. Lucas uses an electric

wheelchair for mobility and is substantially impaired in several major life activities.  Ms. Lucas

enrolled in the University of Denver College of Law (now the Sturm College of Law) in August

2001 and has been a law student there since.

6. Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”) is a Colorado non-profit

corporation whose members are persons with disabilities and their non-disabled allies.

7. Defendant University of Denver is a corporation incorporated in the state of

Colorado.  It is a private undergraduate and postgraduate educational institution located in

Denver, Colorado.  The Sturm College of Law is a private law school located on the University’s

main campus.   Defendant, the University of Denver, is legally responsible for the actions of the

College of Law and its agents alleged herein.  

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

8. The Sturm College of Law offers courses of study leading to, among others, the
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Juris Doctor degree.  The College of Law offers, as benefits and services of its program of legal

study, among other things, classes, services to students, student law clinics, student organizations

and activities, rooms for classes and for study, internships and externships, contacts with faculty,

administration and fellow graduates, career services, and an extensive array of alumni activities. 

The College of Law -- through its students, faculty, alumni and facilities -- is an active

participant in the Denver legal community and offers a variety of benefits and services to

members of this community and to the general public.  

9. Plaintiff Carrie Ann Lucas received her Bachelor of Arts degree from Whitworth

College and a Master of Divinity degree from the Iliff School of Theology.  She applied and was

admitted to the College of Law, and remains eligible for the programs and services the College

of Law offers.  Ms. Lucas has the remainder of this semester and at least one more semester to

complete her Juris Doctor degree.  As such, Ms. Lucas is a qualified handicapped person as

defined in the Rehabilitation Act and its regulations for all of the programs, benefits and services

that the College of Law provides to its students.

10. Because of her disabilities, Ms. Lucas has requested, pursuant to University

policy, certain accommodations for her classes.  For example, Ms. Lucas has requested sign

language interpreters for her classes and law school-related activities, additional time and

accessible formats for her exams, and materials in accessible format for her classes and law

school-related activities.

11. Pursuant to the University’s policies regarding the provision of accommodations

to students with disabilities, it has approved Ms. Lucas’ accommodation requests as reasonable
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and has agreed to provide these accommodations.

12. Repeatedly throughout Ms. Lucas’ law school career, the University has failed to

provide reasonable accommodations to Ms. Lucas.  Such failures include, without limitation,

failing to provide classroom materials in an accessible format, failing to provide materials in an

accessible format in a timely manner, and providing materials that are indecipherable or

unusable.

13. Ms. Lucas has spent countless hours trying to work with the University

administration to get the materials she needs in an accessible format in a timely fashion.  Still,

she has never received certain materials and continues to receive materials too late or in a format

that cannot be used in time for classes or exams.

14. The University administration has shared confidential information about Ms.

Lucas’ disability with faculty and staff despite Ms. Lucas’ specific requests not to do so.

15. Because the University did not provide Ms. Lucas with materials in an accessible

format for one of her classes and shared confidential information with a faculty member, Ms.

Lucas was forced to drop a class this semester and change to another professor.  She has spent

countless hours trying to resolve the ramifications of this with the administration before final

exams and the semester’s end.

16. Next semester, Ms. Lucas will be confronted with new classes and faculty, and

the University has yet to resolve its deficiencies with respect to provision of accommodations. 

Ms. Lucas herself and through her counsel has repeatedly requested that the administration

provide a concrete solution to providing materials in accessible format; the University has not
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done so and still maintains an ad hoc system for this purpose.  Ms. Lucas has every reason to

believe that the administration will fail to provide reasonable accommodations next semester as

well.

17. Unlike most law students who have all the materials they need for class and

exams well in advance, Ms. Lucas has had to argue with the administration -- sometimes on a

daily basis -- to get her materials.  These materials are often not provided until the day she must

review them and sometimes, are not provided at all.

18. The College of Law building was built and opened for students in August 2003

and, as such, is required to be readily accessible to and usable to individuals with disabilities,

including individuals who use wheelchairs.

19. Ms. Lucas has encountered numerous barriers to accessibility throughout the

College of Law.  She has spent countless hours describing these to the administration, and many

barriers remain today.

20. The University has in place policies and practices regarding the configuration of

rooms and facilities at the College of Law that discriminate against individuals who use

wheelchairs.  Ms. Lucas has spent countless hours describing these to the administration, often to

no avail.

21. Defendant’s discrimination has impeded Ms. Lucas’ ability to learn and compete

on an equal footing with her peers.

22. Defendant’s discrimination has adversely affected Ms. Lucas’ academic

performance.
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23. Ms. Lucas has been subjected to a pattern and practice of intentional

discriminatory conduct on the basis of disability by the College of Law. 

24. Ms. Lucas has repeatedly informed the University and College of Law of its

various violations and other discriminatory conduct during her years at the school and attempted

to persuade them to remedy these violations.  She has spent many hours over this time meeting

and corresponding with representatives of the University to discuss these violations.  It was her

hope that her correspondence and meetings would cause the University and the College of Law

to comply with the law.  

25. While Defendant has repeatedly promised over the past several years to correct

these violations, and has corrected some, there remains a pattern and practice of failing to

provide materials in an accessible format, of failing to provide materials in a timely fashion, of

failing to ensure rooms are accessible, and other failures.

26. Despite Plaintiffs’ efforts, Defendant has not been willing to make a binding

commitment to bring the school into compliance with governing laws and regulations.

27. The barriers, policies and conduct described above have caused, are continuing to

cause and in the future will cause damage to Ms. Lucas, including but not limited to the

humiliation, embarrassment, anger and emotional distress of discrimination on the basis of

disability and the losses associated with receiving a legal education that was not equal to or as

effective as that of other students.

28. On information and belief, members of the University administration and/or

faculty have engaged in conduct in retaliation for Ms. Lucas’ opposition to Defendant’s unlawful
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acts and/or interfered with Ms. Lucas’ enjoyment of her protected rights.

29. CCDC’s purpose is to work for systemic change that promotes independence,

self-reliance, and full inclusion for people with disabilities in the entire community.  As part of

that purpose, CCDC seeks to ensure that persons with disabilities fully and equally enjoy the

services, facilities, privileges and accommodations of -- and do not encounter discrimination in -

- public accommodations such as – colleges and universities like the University of Denver.

30. CCDC’s members include individuals with disabilities and their friends, relatives

and allies who are, have been and will be students and who use the services, facilities, privileges

and accommodations at the University of Denver. 

31. CCDC’s members have been injured and will continue to be injured by

Defendant’s discrimination described above.

32. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of Defendant, is at the core of

CCDC’s organizational purpose.

33. Ms. Lucas is a member of CCDC.

34. The participation of individual CCDC members in the lawsuit is not required

either to resolve the claims at issue or to formulate relief.  

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violation of the Rehabilitation  Act)

35. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in this

Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

36. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794, prohibits
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discrimination on the basis of disability by recipients of federal funds.

37. The University of Denver and its College of Law receive and, at all times relevant

to the claims made herein, have received federal funds.   

38. The barriers, policies and conduct described above violate the Rehabilitation Act

of 1973 and its implementing regulations.  

39. Plaintiffs have been, continue to be and will in the future be, damaged by the

barriers, policies and conduct described above.  

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act)

40. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in this

Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

41. Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act prohibits discrimination on the

basis of disability by any person who owns, leases (or leases to) or operates a place of public

accommodation.  42 U.S.C. § 12182.

42. Public accommodations covered by Title III include undergraduate and

postgraduate schools or other places of education.  42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(D) & (J).  

43. The University of Denver owns, leases (or leases to) and/or operates a place of

public accommodation as defined in the Americans with Disabilities Act.  

44. The barriers, policies and conduct described above violate Title III of the

Americans with Disabilities Act and its implementing regulations.  

45. Plaintiffs have been, continue to be and will in the future be, injured by the
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architectural and other barriers, policies and conduct described above.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray: 

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction;

2. That this Court declare the actions of Defendant complained of herein to be in

violation of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq., and the Americans with Disabilities

Act, 42 U.S.C.  § 12101 et seq.;

3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendant to take appropriate steps to

bring its programs, activities and facilities into compliance with the Rehabilitation Act and the

Americans with Disabilities Act.  

4. That this Court award Plaintiffs compensatory damages under the Rehabilitation

Act in an amount to be proved at trial;

5. That this Court award reasonable fees and costs to Plaintiff's attorneys;

6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper

and equitable.

JURY DEMAND: Plaintiff demands a jury on all issues which can be heard by a jury.

Respectfully submitted,

                                              
Kevin W. Williams
Legal Program Director
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition
655 Broadway, Suite 775
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Denver, CO 80203
(303) 839-1775

Amy F. Robertson
Timothy P. Fox
Fox & Robertson. PC
910 - 16th Street, Suite 610
Denver, CO 80202
(303) 595-9700

Dated: December 3, 2004 Attorneys for Plaintiff

Address of Plaintiff Carrie Ann Lucas:

5601 East Yale Avenue
Denver, CO 80222

Address of Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition:

655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203


